ISSUES TO BE REVIEWED

WHETHER THE FACTS, EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT IS GUILTY OF A VIOLATION OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.

WHETHER A PUBLIC REPRIMAND IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT RESPONDENT IS GUILTY OF A VIOLATION OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant **case** arose from a complaint which was filed by William C. Armes, a former client, against Respondent, Curtis A. Littman, in January, 1991. The complaint was forwarded to Grievance Committee 19A which conducted a probable cause hearing on May 15, 1991. On June 7, 1991 the Respondent was given notice that the Grievance Committee had found Probable Cause for Further Disciplinary Proceedings based upon an alleged violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1, which states in part, "A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client."

After the filing of a formal complaint against the Respondent, his answer, and discovery, the matter proceeded to a hearing before Referee Daniel P. Dawson on May 29, 1992. On July 27, 1992 the referee filed his Report in which he found Respondent guilty of a violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1, and recommended that Respondent be disciplined by a Public Reprimand in the form of a letter from the Referee. Thereupon, Respondent filed a Petition for Review of the Referee's findings and this brief is submitted in support thereof.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

William C. Armes hired Respondent in July, 1990 to represent him in post-dissolution matters, including the closing on the sale of the marital home and the residential custody of his daughter, Brandi (Tr.p7,45). The court had awarded custody of the sixteen year old to the mother, however because of a physical altercation between the two of them, the daughter had begun living with Mr. Armes. Because of the short period of time which had passed since the dissolution, Respondent advised Mr. Armes that it would be premature to petition the court for a change of custody. He instead advised that Brandi simply continue to live with her father for a period of time in order

to establish a "track record." Mr. Littman believed that the ex-wife had acquiesced in Brandi's coming to live with her father. (Tr.p52).

Sometime in August, 1990, the former Mrs. Armes made a demand that the daughter be returned to her, whereupon, Respondent initiated a change of custody action in the Circuit Court. The pleading which he filed was denominated a "Motion for Change of Residential Custody."(Tr.Exhibits, Document #2). During the next few months prior to a hearing, Brandi continued to reside with her father. Counsel for the wife filed a Motion to Dismiss Respondent's pleading on November 27, 1990 which was the day a hearing on the pleading had been scheduled and noticed. (Tr.p69).

At the hearing before Circuit Court Judge Fenneley, the wife's Motion for Contempt for failure to pay child support was heard and Mr. Armes was ordered to pay the back child support which he had stopped paying to the mother after Brandi came to live with him. In addition, the Judge ordered that Brandi would continue living with the father pending a home study and ruling upon opposing counsel's Motion to Dismiss, dismissed Respondent's Motion with leave to file appropriate pleadings. (Tr.p.11,74).

Within a few days after the November hearing, Mr. Armes notified Mr. Littman that he was looking for another attorney. (Tr.p.14,76). He did in fact terminate Respondent's services and hired Lisa Batts to represent him in the continuing custody matter. (Tr.p.15) Mr. Armes, thereafter, failed to pay Mr. Littman's fee for the work which had been completed, and filed a grievance against him with The Florida Bar.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

THE FACTS, EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY DO NOT SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT IS GUILTY OF A VIOLATION OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.

The referee has recommended that Respondent be found guilty of a violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1; providing incompetent representation under the circumstances. While a number of issues were raised in The Florida Bar's complaint, and while Mr. Armes cited a number of reasons for his dissatisfaction with Mr. Littman, the only two issues addressed in the referee's report are; (1) Respondent's failure to file the Petition and supporting affidavit required by Florida Statutes Section 61.132(1) and (2) Respondent's failure to "make it clear' to Mr. Armes that child support must be paid even though Brandi was residing with him. (RR,par.5,6,7,10,13).

It is Respondent's position that neither of the two above referenced issues, nor even the two issues taken together, is sufficient basis for a determination that Respondent's representation of his client was incompetent under the circumstances. Additionally, it is Respondent's postion that he did advise Mr. Armes about the child support obligation, and that Mr, Armes either failed to note or did not understand that continuing obligation. (GTr.p.15,Tr.p.46). The testimony by Mr. Armes and Mr. Littman is in conflict on this issue, however it is clear that there were many aspects of the lititgation which Mr. Armes could not understand. (GTr. p. 15, Tr. p. 21,22).

ASSUMING RESPONDENT WERE GUILTY OF THE VIOLATION OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AS ALLEGED A PUBLIC REPRIMAND IS NOT THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE.

In Paragraph IV of his Report, the Referee has recommended that Respondent receive a Public Reprimand to be administered by letter from the Referee. (RR.par.IV). In numerous cases of attorney discipline a Public Reprimand has been administered as the appropriate discipline. In few, or no cases cited, has a Public Reprimand been administered to an attorney for such a minor act or ommission as that which Respondent has been found quilty of. Respondent's offense consisted of filing an incomplete, or inappropriate pleading, which pleading was ultimately dismissed by the Judge, but with leave to amend or The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure clearly allow and in fact encourage the amending of pleadings. While it is obviously encumbent upon every member of The Florida Bar to know the statutory requirements for specific types of pleadings in his or her area of practice, can it be justified that when an attorney makes an error, which is not prejudicial to the client, and which is amendable, that he or she is automatically subject to disciplinary action. The concept of attempting to police each and every minor mistake made by every attorney is outrageous.

Additionally, to recommend that Respondent be disciplined by a Public Reprimand for his alleged failure to advise his client to pay child support is clearly erroneous. Case law does not support such a discipline and the testimony of both the Respondent and the complainant does not support the fact that Respondent did indeed fail to give such advice. Further, it is clear from the testimony, that even after ordered to pay child support by the Circuit Court Judge, the Complainant did not do so. (Tr.p.19,20,32,35).

ARGUMENT

THE FACTS, EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY DO NOT SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT IS GUILTY OF $\bf A$ VIOLATION OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.

Respondent has been charged with a violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1, providing incompetent representation to his client, William C. Armes. The Referee has recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating this rule, and that he be disciplined by the administering of a Public Reprimand. Respondent's failure to file the appropriate pleading pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 61.1 32(1) is the basis for the determination of guilt. (RR.par.5,10,13).

The pleading which Respondent filed in the custody case at issue was termed a "Motion for Change of Residential Custody." (Tr.Exhibit #2). Opposing counsel in the custody litigation, on the day of the scheduled hearing on Respondent's Motion, filed a Motion to Dismiss the pleading. After hearing testimony from the two parties, and from the sixteen year old daughter, and after hearing arguments of Respondent and opposing counsel, Circuit Court Judge John Fennelly granted the Motion to Dismiss Respondent's Motion, but with leave to amend or to submit the appropriate pleading. (Tr.Exhibit #7). The Judge, however, prior to dismissing the Motion, assumed jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter, made a ruling which allowed the minor child to continue to live with the father, Mr. Armes, ordered the father to pay back child support, and ordered a Home Study to be conducted prior to any permanent ruling on a change of residential custody. Respondent, despite his allegedly inappropriate pleading, accomplished essentially what his client has asked him to do, in that he was granted temporary custody of the minor daughter.

The Florida Bar has alleged, and the referee has recommended that Respondent's failure to file the appropriate pleading indicates incompetence in his representation of his client. The only flaws which have been cited are that the Respondent filed a "motion" rather than a "petition," and that he failed to include of attach certain information which is required by Florida Statute 61.132(1), the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act, (RR.par5,6).

To find Respondent guilty of professional misconduct and incompetence for the referenced acts is in direct contravention of the intent of The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Clearly, it is the stated goal of the Rules to liberalize the pleading process, and to free the courts from the technicalities of the common law. Courts are authorized to freely allow amendment of pleadings, and in addition may even allow litigants to offer proof and then conform their pleadings to the proof. The present rules observe the distinction between pleading that is merely inexpert, hence amendable and that which is insufficient. Hotel & Restaurants Employees and Bar Tenders Union v. Beea Reten

Case law specifically interpreting the requirements of Florida Statutes Section 61.132(1) also supports the concept that pleadings under this section are amendable. In Moses v. Davis, 364 So.2d, 521 (2d.D.C.A.1978) the court stated that the petition for custody did not fully comply with the requirements of Section 61.132 pertaining to certain information which must be submitted under oath to the court. This was the same information which Respondent omitted from his custody pleading. In Moser, the court "assumed" that the information would have been submitted later.

Additionally, in <u>T.L. v. State Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 392 So.2d. **288** (5th.D.C.A. **1981)** the information required by section **61.132** was omitted from the State's initial pleading in a dependency action, but was filed six weeks later. The issue raised on appeal was whether the lower court's failure to require the section **61.132** information deprived it of jurisdiction over **the** subject mates. The appellate court ruled that while it **was** error on the part of the court not to require the information, it was not sufficient to deprive the court of jurisdiction.

In <u>Gambrell v. Gambrell</u>, 272 S.E.2d. 70 (Ga.1980) the court held that failure to attach the requisite Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act Affidavit to a custody pleading is a defect which can be cured by amending the pleading, and is not fatal to the court's ability to hear the petition. While Georgia case law is not controlling, it is persuasive in this instance because of the uniform and reciprocal nature of the U.C.C.J.A.

In the subject custody case, Respondent erred in not fully complying with the statutory requirements of section 61.132, and the court dismissed his motion, but in doing so specifically gave Respondent leave to amend or to file another pleading. Prior to taking this action, however, the court obviously assumed jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter, held an evidentiary hearing, and granted relief to Respondent's client in line with that which he requested in the initial motion. Immediately following the hearing, the client changed attorneys and clearly it was no longer Respondent's duty to amend, or refile. Had Respondent continued to represent Mr. Armes, clearly he would have filed a new or amended pleading pursuant to the court's order, and would have included the required U.C.C.J.A. information.

The second basis for the Referee's finding that Respondent was guilty of incompetent representation is that "Respondent did not make it clear to Mr. Armes that child support must be paid even if Brandi was residing with Mr. Armes," (RR.par.7). This finding is clearly erroneous and is not supported at all by the testimony.

The Respondent has consistently testified that he did advise his client of the obligation to pay child support to the exwife, despite the fact that the child was living with him and he was providing direct support to her. (GTr.p.40, Tr.p.46,50). The client, Mr. Armes has consistently testified inconsistently. At the Grievance Committee hearing, Mr. Armes indicated a great deal of confusion about the status of his child support obligation at that time, while being allegedly expertly represented by his new attorney, Lisa Batts. He further indicated that he simply was not making support payments. (GTr.p.15). Again, at the Referee hearing, Mr. Armes expressed confusion about the status of his child support obligation, and again indicated that he was not paying, nor had he complied with the Judge's order requiring him to make continuing payments. (Tr.p20,21,22).

Mr. Armes expressed confusion and lack of comprehension about the advice his new attorney had given him about his requirement of paying child support. (Tr.p.34,35). Based upon Mr. Armes' acknowledged lack of understanding of the techniclities of the litigation, is it not more reasonable to assume that Mr. Littman gave his client good and valuable advice, which the client either did not hear, understand, or agree with?

Assuming, in the alternative, that Respondent is guilty of the two acts Referenced above, to wit; filing an inappropriate pleading and failing to advise his client with respect to a continuing child support obligation, does this conduct justify any disciplinary action, and specifically, does it justify a Public Reprimand? The answer to this query is found in numerous cases decided by this honorable court.

The holding in The Florida Bar v. Neale, 384 So2d. 1264 (Fla. 1980) seems particularly applicable to the instant case. In Neale, the Respondent attorney learned certain information late in the pendency of a dog-bite case, and took a voluntary non-suit thinking he was dealing with a four (4) year statute of limitations. Said statute of limitations was three (3) years and the case was barred. After a referee in the Bar proceeding recommended that Respondent be suspended, this court rejected the referee's recommendation and dismissed the charges. court clearly stated that there is a fine line between simple negligence on the part of an attorney, and a violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility that should lead to discipline. The court went on to say that while the rights of clients should be zealously quarded by the Bar, care should be taken to avoid the use of disciplinary action as a substitute for what is essentially a malpractice action.

In addition, a review of past cases of attorney discipline in which a Public Reprimand was recommended and approved, the factual basis for discipline is consistently much more substantial and egregious than the offenses with which Respondent has been charged. Even the **cases** which Bar Counsel cites to justify his recommendation of a Public Reprimand seem to deal with conduct of a much more serious nature which resulted in more significant loss to the client.

For example, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Hart</u>, 522 So.2d.831 (Fla. 1988) the Respondent attorney, after assuring his client that he would get a continuance of a traffic court hearing, prepared a motion, but never filed it with the court, or followed up to have the motion granted, The client did show up for the scheduled hearing, which had of course, not been continued, however, his attorney did not attend. The client was forced to proceed to trial without representation. The Public Reprimand was further recommended for Count 11, in which Respondent was found guilty of not adequately protecting his client's right to a Satisfaction of Mortgage, while mailing the balance of the mortgage payment directly to the mortgagees.

Similarly, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Whitley</u>, 515 So.2d. 225 (Fla. 1987) the Respondent attorney received a Public Reprimand for numerous charges relative to his representation of a client in an incorporation and issuance of stock. Whitley's actions ultimately resulted in the company's going bankrupt and the stock purchasers losing their investments. He was further charged with Trust Account violation in that he mishandled trust funds in violation of the escrow agreement. Both the errors or malfeasance on the part of the attorney and the subsequent harm to his client were significantly more serious than the issues alleged in the instant case, wherein the same discipline has been recommended.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Maas</u>, 510 **So.2d. 291** (Fla. 1987), the Respondent attorney was hired as the attorney for an estate. He failed to take any action to represent the estate although repeatedly contacted by interested parties and caused a long delay in closing the estate. While a public reprimand was ordered, the attorney was found guilty not only of handling a legal matter which he was incompetent to handle, but also of neglecting a legal matter.

The offenses of which the Respondent was found guilty in The Florida Bar v. Lowery, 522 So.2d.27 (Fla, 1988) were substantially more egregious than those of which Respondent Littman has been accused. He failed to respond to a Show Cause Order addressed to his client in a Guardianship matter with the result that his client would have been jailed, had he not contacted other counsel. Also, Respondent received checks for a client in a settlement offer, and after being instructed by the client not to settle, but to return the checks, did not return them, but rather left them in his file. Lowery was disciplined by a Public Reprimand for two counts of neglect.

An important issue in any attorney discipline case is whether the attorney's acts or omissions caused any direct harm to the client. It is apparent that a critical issue in the mind of the complainant, Mr. Armes, was the fact that at the November 27, 1990 hearing, he was ordered to pay \$1000.00 in back child support to his ex-wife, Rather than being pleased with the judge's ruling that he could have temporary custody of his daughter, which had been his purported goal, he became angry with his attorney for what he perceived to be an unexpected and adverse ruling on the child support arrearages. Not coincidentally, it was apparently after recieving a bill from Respondent that Mr. Armes decided to fire him. (Tr.p28,77,86) Additionally, Mr. Armes has never paid Respondent for the work which was completed for him. (Tr.p.25,77).

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this honorable court to reject the Referee's finding that Respondent is guilty of a Violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1. The record refutes the allegation that Respondent handled this legal matter incompetently, nor do his acts, even if considered to be a violation, justify the administering of a discipline in the form of a Public Reprimand.