11-16 FJ SID J. WHITE

NOV 2 1992 CLERK SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 78,670 [TFB Case No. 91-30,906 (19A)]

v.

CURTIS A. LITTMAN,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

and

LARRY L. CARPENTER Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 425-5424 Attorney No. 312614

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although it is the duty of the Supreme Court of Florida to review a referee's findings of fact and conclusions, it is well settled that this Court will not overturn the referee's findings unless the party seeking their review clearly shows they are erroneous or without support in the record. Thus, it is inappropriate for the respondent to attempt to retry his case in this forum absent a showing that the referee's findings are erroneous or without support in the evidence. The respondent has failed to make such a showing.

The respondent, rather, dwells on the evidence presented at the final hearing which was most favorable to him without acknowledging that there were conflicts in the evidence. It is clear that the referee simply found the evidence which was unfavorable to the respondent to have greater credibility. In short, the referee believed Mr. Armes and did not believe the respondent. The referee's findings are clearly well supported by the record. The requirements of the statute were clear and the respondent's only excuse for not following them is that he did not believe the requirements were important. Although the respondent claims in his brief that Mr. Armes gave conflicting testimony with respect to whether or not the respondent advised him to cease making his child support payments, a review of the transcript of the final hearing reveals that Mr. Armes

- 5 -

consistently testified he believed the respondent advised him he did not need to continue making his child support payments so long as Brandi was living with him. The respondent further cites to Mr. Armes' testimony given before the grievance committee. This transcript, however, was not entered into evidence nor did the respondent include it in an appendix to his brief, therefore it is not properly before this Court, In any event, Mr. Armes' testimony before the grievance committee was consistent with his testimony before the referee.

Thus, although it is undisputed that there was conflicting testimony on some issues, the fact remains that the referee based his findings of violations of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.1 on clear and convincing evidence before him and recommended the appropriate discipline.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I

#### RESPONDENT CANNOT ATTACK THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ON REVIEW IF THEY ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

In a Bar disciplinary proceeding, a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will not be disturbed absent a clear showing that they were not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 594 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 1992). Rule of Discipline 3-7.6(k)(1)(A) provides that the findings of fact "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in **a** civil proceeding." The party seeking review of a referee's findings carries a heavy burden of proving the findings are clearly without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. McClure, 575 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Rule of Discipline 3-7.7(c)(5) provides that "[u]pon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that **a** report of referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." The Bar submits the respondent has failed to meet this burden.

The referee's responsibility, as the trier of **fact**, is to evaluate the credibility of witnesses and resolve conflicts in the evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Bajoczky</u>, **558** So. 2d **1022 (Fla. 1990).** The referee heard the testimony of both the respondent and Mr. Armes **and** was able to observe their demeanor while

-7-

testifying. From his report, it is apparent the referee chose to believe Mr. Armes rather than the respondent with respect to whether or not the respondent had advised Mr. Armes to cease making his child support payments while his daughter was living with him.

To bolster his argument, the respondent is attempting to present evidence to this Court which was not entered into evidence before the referee, i.e. the transcript of the grievance committee hearing. This transcript is not a part of the file nor is it appended to the respondent's brief. It is a long established principle that an appellate court only considers matters which were presented to the lower tribunal. <u>Allen v.</u> <u>Town of Largo</u>, **39** So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1949); <u>Coca Cola Bottling</u> <u>Co. v. Clark</u>, **299** So. **2d 78 (Fla.** 1st DCA **1974)**; <u>Hillsborough</u> <u>County Board of County Commissioners v. Public Employees</u> <u>Relations Commission</u>, **424** So. 2d **132 (Fla.** 1st DCA 1981), citing <u>Tyson v. Aikman</u>, 159 Fla. **573, 31 So. 2d 272** (Fla. 1947); and <u>Seashole v. F & H of Jacksonville, Inc.</u>, 258 So. 2d **316 (Fla.** 1st DCA 1972).

The respondent testified that at the time Mr. Armes retained him, he had handled somewhere between six and twelve contested custody cases (T. p. 43). The respondent further testified that most of the custody cases he had handled up until Mr. Armes' had

-8-

been defensive in nature. He had never had to file an initial pleading in a contested change of custody action (T. p. 91). When the respondent filed the motion in Mr. Armes' case, he did not intend to go to trial. He filed the document merely in an attempt to convince the former wife to allow Brandi to continue living with her father (T. p. 94). The respondent testified that he forgot to amend the motion to contain the required UCCJA information (T. p. 94). The respondent admitted that when he drafted the motion he did not even think about the technical requirements (T. p. 95). Had the respondent considered the requirements for filing a petition to change custody at the time he drafted this document, which he knew or should have known could lead to legal proceedings, this issue might not now be pending before this Court.

The respondent's attitude conveyed during his testimony at the final hearing is troublesome. He testified that he believed there is no difference between **a** pleading and **a** motion (T. p. 80). He has been a practicing attorney for six years and has done, by his own admission, a considerable amount of trial work (T. p. 43). Further, not all of the change of custody petitions, or in his own words "motions", he has filed have been verified (T. p. 92), yet the statute clearly requires that the initial pleading must contain certain verified information.

The Bar submits that by failing to properly research the

-9-

area of law dealing with changes of residential custody and/or to comply with the requirements of Florida Statutes section 61.132, the respondent clearly fell below the standards of competent representation. The existence, or lack thereof, of prejudice the client suffered **as a** result **is** only an aggravating or mitigating factor.

In his brief, the respondent makes mention of amending pleadings under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. The rules are procedural in nature and the Florida Statutes contain the substantive law which controls, absent **a** specific provision to the contrary. While it is true the rules permit the amending of pleadings, the respondent overlooks the fact that what he filed was a motion and not a pleading. The two are not the same and the difference between them is an elementary concept in the practice of law which the respondent appears not to have grasped. Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1,100(a) and 1,100(b) clearly dilineate the differences between the two. Rule 1.100(a) provides that the only pleadings allowed are a complaint, or when so designated by a statute or rule, a petition, an answer to the complaint or petition, an answer to **a** counterclaim, an answer to a cross-claim, a third party complaint, a third party answer, and a reply to affirmative defenses. Rule 1,100(b) provides that an "application to the court for an order shall be made by motion..." Motions are not pleadings. See Harris V. Lewis State

-10-

<u>Bank</u>, 436 So. 2d **338**, 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), citing H. Trawick, <u>Florida Practice and Procedure</u>, section **6-1** at 60 (1979 ed.). These persuasive authorities support the distinction between pleadings and motions. Further, the purpose of pleadings is to define and narrow the issues, and form the foundation of and limit the proof to be submitted at **trial**. The issues in an action are made solely by the pleadings. <u>Hart Properties, Inc.</u> v. Slack, 159 So. 2d 236 (Fla. **1963**).

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.010 states the following: These rules apply to all actions of a civil nature and all special statutory proceedings in the circuit courts and county courts except those to which the probate and guardianship rules or the summary claims procedure rules apply. The form, content, procedure and time for pleading and all special statutory proceedings shall be as prescribed by the statutes governing the proceeding unless these rules specifically provide to the contrary. (Emphasis added)

The Fourth District Court of Appeals interpreted this provision in <u>Salvador v. Fennelly</u>, 593 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 4th DCA **1992**). In reaching it's decision, the district court considered the Florida Supreme Court's declaration in adopting the revised Rules of Civil Procedure in **1981**. The Supreme Court stated that all rules and statutes in conflict with the revised rules were to be superseded and any statute not superseded would remain in effect **as** a rule promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court. Therefore, the **Rules** of Civil Procedure do not control over Florida Statutes except in those instances where a statute directly conflicts with an existing Rule of Procedure adopted by the Supreme Court. In such **a** case, the statute would be rendered unconstitutional because of the separation of powers doctrine. See <u>Williams v.</u> <u>First Union National Bank of Florida</u>, 591 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). The form, content, procedure and time for pleading prescribed by the statutes governing special statutory proceedings are controlling unless the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure specifically provide to the contrary. <u>Berry v.</u> Clement, 346 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 2nd **DCA** 1977).

In the matter at hand, Florida Statutes Section 61.132 is not silent as to the form and content of pleadings in a custody proceeding. The wording of the statute is clear and unambiguous. Not only did the respondent mistitle his document filed with the court as a motion rather than **a** petition, he failed to include certain necessary information. It is clear the respondent was not familiar with the requirements of the statute nor did he research the issue to familiarize himself with the appropriate procedures to follow in seeking a change of residential custody. Had he done so, this Bar disciplinary proceeding might never have developed.

In his initial brief, the respondent cites various cases dealing with the amending of pleadings and the court's exercise of it's jurisdiction even when the uniform child custody jurisdiction act affidavit is not attached to or included in the initial pleading. The respondent cites Hotel and Restaurant

-12-

Employees and Bartenders Union v. Boca Raton Club, Inc., 73 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1954). The respondent is correct in stating that the Rules of Civil Procedure observe the distinction between the pleading that is merely inexpert, and thus amendable, and that which is insufficient. Had the respondent filed a pleading in this case, perhaps he would have been allowed to amend it. The fact remains, however, the respondent did not file a pleading which was appropriate for the relief sought and it was for this reason the circuit court judge dismissed Mr. Armes' action. The order signed by the trial judge, entered as Bar exhibit number seven, speaks for itself.

The respondent also cites <u>Gambrell v. Gambrell</u>, **272** S.E. 2d 70 (Ga. 1980) and <u>T.L. v. State Department of Health and</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, 392 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), for the proposition that failure to include the information required by the UCCJA does not deprive the court of its jurisdiction to hear a petition in a custody or dependency action. These two cases easily can be distinguished from Mr. Armes' case in as much as the requirements of the UCCJA were ultimately complied with, albeit untimely, in both of the respondent's cited cases. The respondent, however, failed to plead and/or comply with the UCCJA requirements before the hearing or during the two week period following the custody hearing prior to his being fired by his client. The Court should also note that the <u>Gambrell</u> case cited by the respondent is Georgia caselaw and therefore only

-13-

persuasive and therefore not controlling. These cases are inapplicable here except perhaps to show in mitigation that the respondent's failure to include the required information would not have resulted in any prejudice to his client.

The respondent cites the case of Moser v. Davis, 364 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978), to show that the failure to fully comply with the requirements of Florida Statute Section 61.132 pertaining to the information required to be submitted under oath is an excusable error. The respondent states that the Second District Court of Appeals assumed the information would have been submitted at a later date. What the respondent fails to note, however, is that in Moser the petition for custody had been submitted by the petitioner with only one day's notice in response to a petition for writ of habeas corpus filed by the parent asserting custody. This did not occur in Mr. Armes' case. Although Mr. Armes wanted to obtain custody of his child as quickly as possible, the respondent was under no time constraint in preparing the appropriate pleading to effect such a change. Further, the respondent had time to amend his motion to comply with the statutory requirements but failed to do so. Therefore, the respondent's argument in his initial brief that had he continued to represent Mr. Armes he would have filed an amended pleading pursuant to the court's order is without substance. When asked why he did not file the appropriate petition after the

-14-

court hearing, the respondent testified before the referee that it was because he was concentrating on arranging for the home study to be completed so the parties could quickly get back into court (T. p. 97). By his own admission, preparation of the appropriate document would have taken only about thirty minutes of his time (T. p. 98).

#### POINT II

### WHETHER A PUBLIC REPRIMAND IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCI-PLINE IN THIS CASE.

The respondent is correct in his statement that malpractice is not always grounds for discipline by this Court. The determining factor is whether or not a violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar occurred. Sometimes an attorney's conduct is both malpractice **and a** rule violation. This is often seen in neglect cases.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Neale</u>, **384 So.** 2d 1264 (Fla. 1980), the attorney's failure to adequately represent the client's interests did not constitute a violation of the rules. The attorney did not neglect his client's case or incompetently handle it. Rather, he made **a** poor judgment call based upon an erroneous belief that the statute of limitations had not yet run. This is not analogous to the respondent's case where he had adequate time

-15-

to review the applicable statute to ensure he was providing the court with all the required information and was filing the appropriate document. The respondent's actions may or may not also constitute malpractice. That is for the civil courts and not the Bar to decide.

The purposes of attorney discipline are threefold. The discipline must be fair to the public by protecting them from unethical conduct while at the same time not denying them the services of **a** qualified attorney. The Bar submits the rational behind this purpose has been diluted in recent years because of the rapid growth of the Bar's membership in this state. Second, the discipline must be fair to the attorney by being sufficient to punish the breach of ethics while at the same time encouraging reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the discipline must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld, 594 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1992). The Bar submits that a public reprimand best satisfies the purposes of attorney discipline and the referee's recommendation is adequately supported by **both** the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and case law.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, approved by the Bar's Board of Governors in November, 1986, provides that **a** public reprimand is appropriate when **a** lawyer

-16-

demonstrates a failure to understand relevant legal doctrines or procedures and causes injury or potential injury to a client or is negligent in determining whether he is competent to handle a legal matter and causes injury or potential injury to a client. See Standard 4.53. Standard 9.22 lists certain factors which may be considered an appravation in recommending disciplinary measures. One of those factors is the existence of prior disciplinary offenses. The respondent received a letter of admonishment from the grievance committee on January 24, 1992, for engaging in conduct that was prejudicial to the administration of justice. The respondent was representing a party in a civil **case** and mailed three letters and a proposed order to the acting judge without sending copies to opposing counsel. He also made **a** misrepresentation to the court by advising it that the punitive damages issue had been argued when in fact it had not. A copy of the respondent's Report of Minor Misconduct in Case No. 91-31,075 (19A) is attached to the appendix. It was provided to the referee and he considered it In making his recommendation **as** to discipline.

Standard 9.32 lists certain factors which may be considered in mitigation. The Bar submits that the only possible mitigating factor is the respondent's inexperience in the practice of law. The respondent was admitted to the practice of law on November 20, 1986. At the time the misconduct occurred, he had been practicing for less than four years. The Bar submits, however,

-17-

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